
NATIOZiAL INDIAN GAMING COMMISSION 

NOTICE OF VIOLATION 

NOV- E 1 -02 

TO: Karen Diver, Chaimroman (Via Certified U.S. Mail) 
Fond du Lac Reservation Business Committee 
Fond du LTC Band of Lake Superior Chippewa 
1720 Big Lake Road 
Cloquet. MN 55720 

A. Notification of Violation 

The National Indian Gaming Commission (the "NTGC") Oainvornan givcs noticc that 
the Fond du Lac Bznd of Lake Superior Chippewa (the "Band") cnteted into and operated 
under a series of a g e m e n t s  that _grant the Ciry of Duluth. Minnesota (the "City") an 
unl~i~vfbll pmprictary interest in the Band's gaming acti~jty and prevent the Band from 
possessing the sole responsibility for tlze gaming activity. 

The agreements as written, and as the parties operated under thm, violate the Indian 
Gaming Regulatory Act ("IGRA"). 35 U.S.C. $ 271 0@)(2)[A); NIGC regulations, 25 
C.F.R. $ #  522.4@)(1) and 522.6(s$; and the Band*s gaming ordinance, Fond IATC 
Gaming Orcli~~nnce 6 40 1. Specifically, the reIevant a_pements, all dated June 20, 1994. 
include: Sublease and Assignment of Gaming Rights Agreement; Tribal-City Accord: 
and Amendments to the Commission Agreement (the "1 994 A,mcements"). 

This noticc of violation @Ow is not issued lightly.qn 1994, NTGC"s first Chairman, 
Anthony Hope, tvrotc a letter to the parties stating that NIGC reviewed the agreements at 
issue here and found they were consistent rvith IGRA. Chairman Hope's review of the 
a g m e n t s ,  which appears to have been complctcd over the course of three days, was the 
KIGC's second involvement 14th IGRA's mandate that tribes retain the "sole proprietary 
interest" in their gaming activity.' Four days later, Chairman Hope sent a two page 

1 I m awrc that the Band has sought relief from the consent decree intvlring this matter. Ci& qfDttiutIr 1: 
Fond dl1 IAC Rnnd ol l rrk~ Sirperfor Chir,prnvn. 705 F.Supp.2d 890 (D.MN 20 10). In that case, the Court 
concluded. "'[iln may bc thar the armngement befiveen the Band and the City violates the IGRA in the eyes 
of the NIGC. But until the NIGC initiates an enforcement action regarding the Fond du Luth Casino and 
proceeds with that action to a final decision on the substantive issue ofproprietary interest. this Cow's 
view would constitute an advisory opinion." Id. at 907-903. 

The first involvement appears to have occurred less than a year earlier and in\vlved a p m c n t q  between 
the Band and the City m t m d  into in t 956. Chairman Iiope found that under the 1986 Agreernsntc "he 



"Report and Recommendation" to the District Court, stating that the agreements were 
consistent with IGRA. Unfortunately3 Chairman Hope's letter to the parties and his 
"Report and Recommendation" to the District Court do not contain any substantive 
analysis of the issues to support his statement that the agreements were consistent with 
IGRA. 

Based on NIGC's application of the sole proprietary interest requirement, I find that the 
1994 Ageernents violatc I G M .  Tribes, not third parties, are to possess the sole 
proprietary interest in and responsibility for the gaming activity and to be the psimay 
beneficiaries of that activity. 25 U.S.C. $3 2710(b)(2)(A); 2702(2). As discussed in more 
dctail below. NEGC5s application of the sole proprietary interest requirement essentially 
examines three criteria: 1 ) the t m  of the relationship; 2) the amount of revenue paid to 
the third party; and 53 the right of control provided to the third party over the gaming 
activity. Since the NIGC's inception, neither thc NIGC Chair nor the Commission has 
approved any agreement, management or othenvise, under t m s  similar to the 
agreements at issue hmc. 

In a 1993 letter to the Band and the City, Chairman Hope stated that agreements executd 
by the parties in I936 invoIving this gaming operation violated IGRA's sole proprietary 
interest requiscment. A close review of the I994 Agreements demonstrates that they 
incorporate many of the primary terms of the 1986 agreements that Chairman Hope 
stated violated I G M .  The 1936 agreements providcd for a 25 year term with a 25 year 
renewal period. Tt7c 1994 A p m e n t s  effectively pick up the remainder of the tern 
established in the 1956 a_erements. The 1994 Agreements have a 43 year term under 
which for the first 18 years the Band pays 19% of gross revenues fium video games of 
chance to the City. with an undetermined percentage of gross revenues to he paid to the 
City over the twenty five year term from 201 2 to 2036. The 1 936 Agreements provided 
for the City to reccivc 24.4% of the net revenues from all gaming activities. Payments 
made by the Tribe to thc City pursuant to the 1994 Agreements to rent the Tribe's own 
trust land appears to ha1.c actually exceeded the amounts the City would have reccivcd 
undm the 1996 Apeements. From approximately June 1994 to August 2009, the Band 
paid the City approximately S75,000,000 to rent the Band's own trust Imd. In return, the 
City a g e d  not to enter into any other gaming ventures within 250 miIes of Duluth. 
Under the 1994 Ageements, the City maintains the authority to veto m y  amendments to 
the Band's gaming ordinance applicable to the Fond du Luth casino and has the right to 
review and object to the Band's licensing decisions. As discussed in more detail helow, 
the I 994 A,mcments carry forward the substantive provisions of the 1986 Ageemcnts 
Chairman Hope found to violate IGRA. 

Rand does not have the sole ownership or control of the Fond Du LuZh Caqino. . . . [Tlhe cmino is 
opented as a joint venture in which the City has a si_enificttnt o ~ n m h i p  interest in the gaming operation 
and has substantial control over oprations." SPC September 24, 1993 Letter from Chairman Anthony J. 
Hope to Chairman Roben Peacock and Xlayor Garv Uoty. 



Undcr IGRA and NIGC regulations, the Chairwoman may issue a NOV to any pmon for 
violation of any provision of the IGRA, NIGC regulations, or an approved tribal gaming 
orclinance or resolution. 25 U.S.C. 8 271 3(a5; 25 C.F.R. $573.3(a). 

C. Applicable Federal and Tribal Laws 

1. IGRA requires that to lawfully operate Indian gaming. a tribe must have n 
tribal _earning ordinance approved by thc Chainvomm. 25 U.S.C. 68 
37 1 0ro)I. 1 1 )(A). 

2. I G U  q u i r e s  that the tribal gaming ordinance provide that the tribe 
"have the sole proprietary interest in and respocsibility for the conduct of 
any gaming activity." 25 W.S.C. @ $ 3 7  1 O(b)(Z)(A), (d)( 1 )(A)(ii). 

3. h' IGC repta?ions require that a tribe's saming ordinance provide that "he 
tribe shall have thc sole proprietary interest in and responsibility for the 
conduct of any gaming operation.'' 25 C.F.R. 6 8 522..?.@)(1), 522.4(c). 

4. The Band's ordinmcc approved by NIGC Chairman Anthony Hope on 
September 23, 1992, provides that the Band will have the "sole proprietary 
intcrest in and responsibility for the conduct of any gaming operation 
authorized by this Ordinance." Fond drr Lnc Ordinnncc 5 40 1. 

5.  IGRA provides that class TIE gaming operations are only lawful if 
conducted pursuant to an ordinance that mcets the sequitemmts of 25 
U.5.C. 5 2710@). 25 U.S.C. 9 2710(d)(l){A)(ii). 

6. Failure to comply with any provision of IGRA, NIGC regulations, or an 
approved tribal gaming ordinance is grounds f u ~  issuance of an NOV. 25 
C.S.C. 6 2713: 25 C.F.R. 6 573.3(5i), 

D. Circumstances of the Violation 

Backmound 

In 1 986, the Rand and the City entered into agreements whereby thc partics would bc co- 
ownas of a gaming operation on a parcel of trust land held by the Band in the city.? 
However, just nxro years latm IGRA was enacted, calling into question the legality of the 
awmments due to the fact that IGRA mandates that tribes have the sole proprietary 
interest in and responsibility for their gaming activity. 

The 1986 agreements that contain provisions camed fomrd in the 1994 Agreements are a Commission 
A-pement and a Business Lease both dated April 1. 1986 ( ' the 1986 Agreements''). 



In 1959, the Band filed suit in the United States District Coufl for the District of 
Minnesota allesng the agreements violated IGRA. On Novmbm 2, 1990, William 
LnvelI, Department of the Interior Associate Solicitor for Indizn Affairs, issued a letter 
opinins that the 1 986 Agccments violated IGRA's rcquircment that the Band have tlre 
soIc proprietary interest in the ~ a m i n g  activity. This opinion relied on a number o f  
factors, including thc substantial amount of net profits, the City's access to records and 
that the casino lvas opaated by the Fond Dufuth Economic Development Commission 
(the "Devdoprnent Commissian") cornprisd of rqresentatives of both the City and t l~c 
Band. The DcvcIoprnmt Commission had the power to '?icensc, regulate, and operate 
bingo and other ~arnjng.'' Solicitor Latrell's opinion noted that the Development 
Commission hcld "substantial control over the gaming facility*' and fudher explained 
that: 

Both the Band and the City have access to the books and 
records of the Commission, and tllc Commission is 
obligated to providc both parties financial records, profit 
and loss statcrnents, and other requested financial 
statements. Sections 1 3(b) and (c). Mom importantly, the 
City received 24.5% of the net profits from the gaming 
ivhit e the Band receives 25.5%. Section 14(c). The City's 
sllarc of the net revenues does not constitute compensation 
for services rcndered as the rnanagemcnt contractor for the 
Bmd"s casino but rather constitutes the City's share of the 
profits as a co-orvner of the gaming facility. 

The City asscsted "that only the chairman nf the newly created National Indian Gaming 
Commission may review thc a_prcernents." The District Court dismissed the suit without 
prejudice on December 26, 1990 to allow the Chairman of the newly formed NlGC to 
review the a - m e n t s .  

On Scptemhcs 24,1993, KlGC Chairman Hope sent a letter to the Band and the City 
stating that the P9SG Agccmcnts vioIated IGRA's mandate that the Band maintain the 
sole proprietary interest in the gaming operation. Chairman Hope's analysis in this letter 
was consistent witl~ Solicitor Lavell's opinion. Specifically, Chairman Hope summarized: 

[F]t is apparent that under the Commission Agrccrncnt 
creating thc Fond Duluth Economic Developmcnt 
Commission (Commission), the Band does not have the 
solc otvnership or control of the Fond Du Luth Casino. In 
fact, under this Agreement the casino is operated as n joint 
venture in which the City has a significant ownership 
intlrrmt in the gaming operation and has substantid control 
over operations. . . . The City's assertion that, because the 
Commission is designated as a political subdivision of thc 
Band. the tribe has the solc control of the Fond du Luth 



operation. is plainly contradicted by the fact that the Band 
is unable to unilaterally abolish, regulate or conttol the 
Commission. To the contrary, the tcrms of the 
Commission Agcemcnt rcquire joint decision making as 
well as shared profits and access to books and records. 

Chairman Hope deferred enforcement action for 30 days to allow the parties to negotiate 
a resolution. NIGC convened discussions bchveen the parties. and the Band and the City 
negotiated thc 1 994 Agrcmnents. 

By letter dated June 13, 1 994, thc parties submitted to NIGC the settIement agreement 
resulting from their negotiations. ?Tree days later, on June 1 6, 1 994. Chaimm Hope 
w~ote  a letter to the parties stating: "UJe have reviewed the proposed settIement and have 
concluded that this agreement returns fill ownership and control of the Fond du Luth 
Casino to the Band and is consistent with the requirements of IGW." The letter 
contained only this conclusive statement with no supporting analysis." Basically, the 
letter articulated Chairman Hope's conclusion to not initiate an enforcement action. 

The parties then reached a settlement of the lawsuit. On dune 20, 1494. Chairman Hopc 
wrote a letter, entitled "Report and Recommendation of the Sational Indian Gaming 
Commission," to the HonorabIe Judge Mapuson even thou& KIGC was not a party to 
the litigation. Chairman Hope wrote 'Yo report that the settlement ageanent recently 
concluded between d ~ e  Fond du Lac Band and the City of DuIuth returns ownership and 
control of the Fond du tuth Casino to the Band and is fdIy consistent with ERA. 
Accordingly, I recommend that this settlement agreement be approved." Chairman 
Hope's letter contained only this conclusive statement with no analysis to support it. The 
Court subsequently issued a Stipulation and Consent Order. 

As discusscd in more detail helow, Chaiman Hope's decision not to initiate an 
enforcement action is inconsistent with his 1993 letter given that the E 994 Ageements 
contain many "carried fonvard" provisions that are substantively identical to the 1986 
Agreements. The focus of my concem is on these same provisions which provide an 
cxtnordinarily long t m ,  an unjustified high level of compensation. and third party 
control over aspcers of the gaming activity. 

On May 17,201 0, as the first tmm of the 1994 Agreements was cornins to condusion, 
the Fond du Lac Band of Superior Chippewa Indians wrote to NIGC requesting that the 
NIGC Chair mediate a dispute involving the SubIcasc and A s s i p c n t  of Gaming Rights 
A g r m n t  betwcen the Bmd and the City of Duluth, Minnesota. The mediation request 
was made pursuant to the Sublease, which provides that if the parties do not reach 

4 As part of our setiew of this matter, NIGC staff members perfotmed a search of Commission records and 
were unable to locate any analysis associated with this letter. 

5 



agreement concmning thc renegotiation of the percentage of &TOSS revcnue to be paid for 
the period commencing April 1.201 1, the parties may rcquess the NIGC Chairman 
mediate for purposes of attempting to bring the parties to agcement. Scc Sublease and 
Assignrent of Gaming Ri~hts  Agreement, Scc. 4.2.2.5. The SubIease further provides 
that if the Chairman "'refuses to mediate . . . the Band and the City shall submit the 
dispute to binding ahitration . . . ."Id. On August 13,2010, I wrote to the Bmd and the 
City informing them that I declined to mediate this issue. because it wouId most likely be 
unproductive. 

By letter dated August 16,201 0, the Band requested that the NIGC reexamine the 1994 
A c m e n t s  to determine whether or not the changes to the I986 agcmnents. as 
memorialized in the I994 Agreements, conform to TGRA. Thus, the near conclusion of 
the first term under thc 1993 Agrments  and the Band's request for review triggered 
KIGC's present rerietv. By letter d a t d  Octobm 20.201 0, the City and the Band were 
advised that the 1994 Agreements would be examined by NIGC. For thzt purpose, the 
letter requested the parties provide their t.ie~vs of thc 1 994 ALmernents by Nclvcmbm I 9, 
30 1 0. Both parties timely submitted their views. 

In its submission, the Band a rpes  that the I994 Ageements ~iolate l G M %  mandatc 
that the Band retain the sole proprietq interest in and responsibility for the g a m i n  
activity. Additionally. the Band vicws payments to the City as an impropcr tax on 
gaming. Tl~c Band k s e s  this conclusion on its view that the rental payment is n sham - 
desiged to hide the true relationship b c h x ~ ~ ~  the parties. As support for this view, the 
Rand states that not only is it paying rent on a parccl it ox\ms but that the rental payment 
far exceeds rental rates in DulutSl and the casino does nos receive scniccs from the City 
above the scnrices receiucd by any other commercial businesses. Additionally. the Band 
highlights the Ions tcm of the ageement, the fact that rcnt is paid beforc expenses arc 
paid, and that the City offered no meaningful services in exchange for the rent. Finally, 
the Band points out that the City holds veto authority over any amendments to the 
gaming ordinance that appIy to the casino. 
&+ 

The City's view is that thc 1994 Agreements are analogous to a tribal-state compact. 
Tribal-state compacts ate approved by the Department of  the Interior pursuant to 25 
U.S.C. 5 27 I O(d1(8$. The City retained Dr. Alan P. Meister to conduct a study of compact 
terms found in tribal-state compacts. Dr. Meister concluded that the 1 994 A~eeemcnts' 
t m s  werc consistent with tribal-state compacts in scgard to compensation. term. access 
to financial records. and controls on gaming regulation. According to the City, the 
p a p c n t  to the City was designed to reff ect approximately onc-third of the casino's net 
revenue. Tne City notes that the I994 A-merncnts were entered into before the Band 
mterod a compact with thc State of Minnesota and therefore the exclusivity granted to the: 
Band wa-5 valuable consideration for thc ~ c n t d  payments. Additionally. the City points to 
the fact that it supported the Band's trust acquisition of tlre casino propcrty in 1986, 
condemned pmpeftv to build a parking ramp for the casino, paid the Band to manage a 
parking ramp undcr an a p e m c n t  that expired an Decrmbw 3 I, 20 10, and a g d  not ta 
entm into any similar agreements with another Indian tribc. Finally, the City argues that 



the revenue paid to i t  hy the Band is not a tax because it was nqotinted by the partics, 
rathcr than being imposed upon the Band by the City. 

Based on a thorough review of thc parties' submissions and the 1994 Agreements, I 
conclude that thr 1994 Agreements, as written and as impIemcnted, violate IGRA's 
mandate that the Band retain the sale proprietary interest in and responsibiIity for its 
gaming activity. 

Sllnrc qf tlre I)rqfirs nnd Tcsm 

As discussed, the I956 A g e m a t s  created an economic darcioprncnt commission to 
manage the gaming operation. The commission was comprised of four members fmrn the 
Band and three members appointed by the City. The Band received 25.5% of the nct 
revenues md the City recei\wl24.5%. ?Idle remaining 50% of thc net revenues went to 
thc Development Commission to be used for development on thc Band's reservation and 
within downtown Duluth. 

The E 994 A~mmcnts  changed the percenta_ges of revenue distribution, with the City 
retaining 19% of gross rcllc.nrres and the Tribe receiving the remainder. Bas4  on this 
change, the City appears to have actual1 y rcceivcd more money than it \vould have under 
the 1086 Agreements. This apparent increase in revenue was most likely a result of the 
City's sharc being based on the gross rcvcnucs rather than net revenues. 

'IV~ilc the stnrcture of tlzc cconornic development commission was chansed in the I994 
Agreecments by limiting its membership to the Mayor of the City and the Band's Chair. 
thc I994 Agreements requirc thc Band to lease its trust land on which the cwino is 
situated tkom the commission in exchange for a rent of 19% of the _mss  rcvmuc from 
video games of chance. AIE of the rmt payments are permanently assigned from the 
commission to the City. This structure appears deliberately designed to disguise 
payments of revenue of the casino to the City as rmt payments. The Band is paying rcnt 
cm a property it already owns and, according to the Summary Appraisal Rcpott supplifd 
by the Band, for a far highw rental rate than market rentaI mtes. 

Tl~e  1986 Agreements were for a term of 25 years with an automatic 25 ycar renewal 
unless the commission was dissolved. The inl tial term of the 1994 A_gmrnents was for 
13 years, which has expired. Nonetheless. under thc 1994 A-wments, thc City is 
entitled to an extension for an additional 25 years. The result is that the City will have a 
role in the Rand's sarning. and certain controI over it, for an extremely long period of 
time. In fact. exactly the same end date as envisioned in the 1986 Agreements. 

In sum. while some of the financial t m s  and the business structure changed between the 
1956 and 1994 Apcments, it is apparent that the Ions term of the agreements stayed the 
same while the City's sharc of the casino revenue appears to have increased. I am aware 
that the Band and the City arc currently involved in arbitration to determine the rental 



rate for the second t m .  Regardless of the outcomr of this arbitration, it is my vier17 that 
performance under the 1994 A g m c n t s  will prevent the Band from maintaining the solc 
proprietary intcrest in and responsibility for the gaming activity. While the percentage of 
income paid to the City is an important factor in my decision, as detailed below, it is not 
tile only factor. A reduction in the fee will not remcdy fees paid aver thc last 17 years, the 
additional hvcnty-five year term and the regulatory responsibi I ity and control issues. 

Recqiilnro~ Respomibilih. and Control owr tlrc Grmling Fnciliv 

Thc 1994 Agreements also grant the City the power to review and consent to any changes 
to thc Band's gaming ordinance and regulations. See 1994 Tribal - City Accord 
C"Accord*'), The Accord "governs the Band's conduct of gaming activities" at the Fond 
Du Luth casino. Specifically, the Accord pmvides that the Band may not modify its 
gaming orclinance or regulations, as they apply to the Fond Du Luth casino, unless the 
City of Duluth consents to the modification or thc modification is required by Fedcral Iaiv 
or a tribal-state compact. See Accord $ 6(c).  Furthcr, the Accord provides the City with 
the right to revictr and object to thc Band's licensing decisions. See Accord S26Cj). One 
of the primary P U ~ O S C S  of IGRA is to provide a statutory basis for tribcs to regulate their 
own gaming activity. Spe 25 U.S.C. $2702(2). The licensing of kcy mplayccs and 
primary rnana~ernent officials is a core component of that r e ~ l a t o r y  responsibility. Thus. 
the City's polver to directly control the reslation of thc Band's gaming activity infrin_rcs 
on the R,md*s authority as confirmed by Congress. Accordin_rly, the Band does not retain 
the sole proprietary inzcrcst in. and responsibility for, the gamins activity, 

Section 16 of the Tribal-City Accord requires the Band to provide the City's 
representative acccss to review and copy any and all records of the gaming opention. 
This levcl of access is unusual considering that lGRA does not grant the City alyv role in 
thc rcmlation of Indian gaming.5 This level of access i s  the type usually afforded to a 
business partner. Indeed, Chaiman Hope found that this IcveI of acccss provided for in 
t11c 1986 A ~ c m c n t s  violated IGRA. Spe September 24, 1993, Letter from Chaiman 
Anthony Hope to Chaiman Robert Peacock and Mayor Gary Duty. 

It is also broader access than n d e d  for the City to ~ ~ r i f y  that it is receiving the correct percentage of 
revenue. 



As summarized in the chad below, the substantive terms of thc 1986 and 1994 
Agreements are almost identical. 

The City has conccded as much. highlighting the fact that many provisions from the 1986 
Ageanents were "'carried fonvard in the 1994 Agements." SPP City Brief at Z 1. 
Specifically, thc City points to the exclusivity provision undcr which it is prcvcntcd from 
entering a simiIar a g c m e n t  with another Indian tribe. 

Term 

It is my conclusion that the 1994 Agrements carq fonvard more than just discrete 
provisions of the f 956 Agreements but rather carry forward thc joint venture intent 
embodied in the 1936 Apcments. The parties share in the profits, with the City 
assuming no risk, providing no serviccs commensurate with the payments received and 
the City retains contrnl oxFm the gaming operation. 

First, the I993 Agreements continue the profit sharing mechanism of the 1986 
Agccments. Thc City's condemnation of the land, construction of a parking garage, and 
support of the trust acquisition all occurred well before the 1994 Agreements. Such 
actions by the City are not continuing and do not amount to quantifiable "scrviccs" 
bearing a rationat relationship to the $75 million dollars providd by the Trihe over the 
past 13 years. 

1986.&reernents -- 1 1994 Aoreements F-- 

25 years wit11 automatic 25 i 1 3 years with an automatic 

b See 1986 Busincss Lcase Agreement 4. 
7 Scc 199-1 Suhlcme and .k.si~nment of Gaming Rights 5 3.1. 
s TIlis apemcnz  is rctmactivc to September 30, 1993. Id. 

See 1 9x6 Commisinn rZZmment 2 14(c). 
10 See I994 Sublease and i2ssignmcnt of Gaming Rights 4 4.2.2.2. 
l 1  See 1986 Commission : . ~ m e n t  8 11. 

See 1991 Tribal-City Accord $8 6 ,26 .  
" See 1994 Tribal-City Accord 9 2ti(j). 
l4 See 19R6 Commission Agreement 13. 
'' See 1994 Tribal-City Accord $ 16. 
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Even in 
support 
gaming 

. the context of a tribal-state compact, which is specifically provided for by I G M ,  
of a trust acquisition is not of tangible economic benefit justifying a share of 
revenue. On March 7,2002, the Secretary of the Interior disapproved a compact 

between the Jena Band of Choctow Indians and the State of Louisiana under which the 
State was to receive 15.5% of the Jena Band's net revenues in exchange for the State's 
support for a trust acquisition. The Assistant Secretary of Indian Affairs noted that the 
location of the trust acquisition would "yieId a substantial economic benefit to the Band'" 
but disapproved the compact because: 

In our view, the intangible value of the State's support far 
the Band's application to take land in trust in Vinton, 
Louisiana, and have the parcel declared part of the Band's 
initial reservation for purposes of Section 20 of IGRA, is 
not the type of quantifiable economic benefit that would 
justify our approval of the revenue-sharing payments 
proposed under this Compact. 

See March 7, 2002, Letter from Assistant Secretary - Indian Affairs Neal McCaleb to 
Tribal Chief B. Cheryl Smith. 

Second, the City's comparison o f  the 1994 Agreements with tribal-state compacts is 
misplaced and unpersuasive. Under IGRA, tribal-state compacts are fundamentaIly 
different than the agreements at issue here. Cities are not parties to such compacts. By 
law, compacts between an Indian tribe and a state provide for regulation of class 111 
gaming. Interior has approved some compacts that provide for a share of the net revenue 
if the State provides an on-going tangible benefit such as exclusivity from non-Indian 
gaming. Here, the City's reliance an the exclusivity granted under the 1994 Agreements 
is particularly dubious. The 250 mile area of excIusivity could not prevent another Indian 
tribe or a non-Indian entity from operating gaming because the City's jurisdiction does 
not extend beyond the City's limits. A city cannot step into a state's shoes for purposes of 
a compact, as it simply lacks the authority to do so. The City admitted as much, stating 
that "municipalities ate, under IGRA, statutoriIy different than states." Thus, any similarity 
between the terms of the 1994 Agreements and any compact is irrelevant to the analysis 
here. IGRA's requirements relating to the terms of a compact are controlled by 25 
U.S.C. 5 271 0(d)(3), whereas the 1 994 Agreements are f m d  to violate a wholly separate 
requirement of IGRA, 25 U.S.C. 3 2710(b)(2)(A). 

Despite the City" recognition that municipalities are different than states, it argues that 
payments made by the Band to the City are allowable under IGRA because 
8 27 10 permits tribes to find local government operations out of net gaming revenues. 
While funding local government operations is an allowable use of net gaming revenue, in 
this instance the payments to the City are from gross gaming revenue. More importantly, 
just because it may be a proper use does not mean that the 1994 Agreements conform to 
IGRA's mandate that the Band have the sole proprietary interest in its gaming activity. 
IGRA's sole proprietary interest mandate is violated by the high amount of revenue being 






















